#### 1

# Specificity and multiplicity in the recognition of individuals: implications for the evolution of social behaviour

# R. H. Wiley\*

Department of Biology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599-3280, U.S.A.

#### ABSTRACT

Recognition of conspecifics occurs when individuals classify sets of conspecifics based on sensory input from them and associate these sets with different responses. Classification of conspecifics can vary in specificity (the number of individuals included in a set) and multiplicity (the number of sets differentiated). In other words, the information transmitted varies in complexity. Although recognition of conspecifics has been reported in a wide variety of organisms, few reports have addressed the specificity or multiplicity of this capability. This review discusses examples of these patterns, the mechanisms that can produce them, and the evolution of these mechanisms. Individual recognition is one end of a spectrum of specificity, and binary classification of conspecifics is one end of a spectrum of multiplicity. In some cases, recognition. In other cases, recognition of individuals involves complex associations of multiple cues with multiple previous experiences in particular contexts. Complex mechanisms for recognition are expected to evolve only when simpler mechanisms do not provide sufficient specificity and multiplicity to obtain the available advantages. In particular, the evolution of cooperation and deception is always promoted by specific individuals contributes to cooperation in animals other than primates. Human capacities for individual recognition probably have a central role in the evolution of complex forms of human cooperation and deception. Although relatively little studied, this capability probably rivals cognitive abilities for language.

*Key words*: individual recognition, habituation, cooperation, aggression, evolution of learning, developmental plasticity, cognition.

## CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Specificity and Multiplicity of Recognition	3
	(1) Specificity of recognition	3
	(2) Multiplicity of recognition	4
	(a) Recognition of multiple rivals	4
	(b) Recognition of multiple partners in stable social groups	5
III.	Failure of Recognition	6
IV.	Mechanisms of Recognition	7
	(1) Association of multiple cues	7
	(2) Context-dependent associations	7
	(3) Habituation and associative learning	8
	(4) Conclusions	9
V.	Optimal Levels of Recognition	9
	(1) Evolution of specificity in recognition	10
	(2) Individual recognition and the evolution of cooperation	11

\* Address for correspondence (Tel: +1-919-962-1340; Fax +1-919-962-1625; E-mail: rhwiley@email.unc.edu).

(3) Recognition during competition	. 14
(4) Conclusions	. 14
VI. Conclusions	. 14
VII. Acknowledgements	. 15
VIII. References	. 15

# I. INTRODUCTION

Recognition requires that individuals respond differently to sets of conspecifics based on signals associated with them. As in every form of communication, the receiver's nervous system classifies sensory input and associates behavioural (or neural) outputs with different sensory inputs. For recognition of different sets of conspecifics, classes of sensory input can be either relatively specific (when a set includes only one or a few other individuals) or relatively general. In other words, recognition varies in its specificity. Furthermore, the classification can be either binary (when only two sets of individuals are recognized) or multiple. Recognition thus also varies in its multiplicity. The specificity and multiplicity of recognition can vary independently in different organisms and situations. This variation suggests that the mechanisms of recognition vary in complexity.

An ability to recognize other individuals of the same species has now been reported for a wide diversity of species. Nevertheless, few studies have considered the specificity or the multiplicity of this capability. As a result, basic questions about the mechanisms and the evolution of recognition remain unanswered.

Capabilities for recognition of conspecifics evolve as a result of the advantages of distinguishing sets of social partners and responding appropriately to each (Reeve, 1989; Johnstone, 1997; Tibbetts & Dale, 2007). The evidence reviewed below suggests that these capabilities might evolve just enough complexity to obtain the available advantages and no more. Complex capabilities would thus evolve only as a result of advantages from complex forms of recognition.

Humans of course have prodigious capabilities for recognizing each other. The complexity of this ability has received little attention, however, perhaps because it is taken for granted. A continuing thread of investigation has focused on psychological mechanisms for recognition of individual faces and how they relate to other mechanisms of categorization (Peterson & Rhodes, 2006; Calder et al., 2011), a subject with clear relevance to the continuing interest in machine recognition of faces (Zhao et al., 2003; Tsao & Livingstone, 2008). Yet there have been no attempts to determine how many people humans can recognize and no systematic studies of how humans classify each other with different degrees of specificity. This omission is surprising because the human capacity for recognizing other individuals, for conceptualizing the relationships between individuals, and for differentiating our behaviour on the basis of these relationships underlies most human social behaviour. Furthermore, it seems possible that the cognitive demands rival those for language.

Humans also tend to extend their assumptions about our abilities for recognizing each other to other species. The predilection for this extrapolation seems to be related to our intimacy with other species. There is thus a widespread conviction that our pets recognize us. People with an interest in natural history are often convinced that some individuals, such as mates, parents, and offspring, recognize each other. In recent decades, since intensive field studies of animal behaviour began, many biologists likewise extended their assumptions about human recognition to their non-human subjects. The scientific study of animal behaviour, especially the investigation of releasers, eventually led ethologists to experiment with individual recognition.

Among the first was William Thorpe, whose students focused on vocal recognition of mates, parents, and young in various species of seabirds. It had previously been established that birds could distinguish between individuals of their own and other species solely by their vocalizations, but these studies (reviewed below) showed that birds could often also use vocalizations to distinguish between different individuals within their own species. Soon afterwards Bruce Falls pioneered investigations of birdsong as a means of recognition by territorial neighbours. In this case, it had always seemed plausible that birds would learn to avoid areas from which they had been evicted by rivals. Falls asked whether birds might also recognize rivals solely by the individual differences in their songs. He and his students used playbacks of recordings to provide the first convincing evidence (reviewed below) that distinctive songs were sufficient for recognition of conspecific individuals. Subsequently similar experiments have been conducted with many other species.

Falls provided an operational definition for individual recognition in this context: 'individual recognition [occurs when] recipients discriminate among similar sounds of different individuals in the absence of other identifying cues' (Falls, 1982, p. 238). This definition emphasizes one aspect of individual recognition, discrimination of similar cues presented by different individuals, but it does not emphasize the ramifications of this kind of discrimination for a classification of conspecifics.

This review explores these ramifications. Section II introduces patterns of specificity and multiplicity in recognition of conspecifics by animals. It is not necessary to review all reports of individual recognition (see Tibbetts & Dale, 2007, and Johnston, 2008, for other recent reveiws). Instead, the focus is on specificity and multiplicity of recognition in natural situations. Section III reviews the neural and behavioural mechanisms that can result in recognition of conspecifics. It is clear that simple neural

mechanisms are in some cases enough to produce recognition of conspecifics, even individually specific recognition. Section IV reviews evidence for the evolution of complex forms of recognition. It emphasizes the promotion of cooperation by greater specificity and multiplicity of recognition. To conclude there is a brief reflection on the evolution of this form of complex cognition.

#### II. SPECIFICITY AND MULTIPLICITY OF RECOGNITION

#### (1) Specificity of recognition

Many experimental studies of recognition show that animals discriminate between cues associated with two categories of conspecifics. If one of these categories happens to include a single individual, then the specificity necessary for individual recognition is satisfied. For instance, playbacks of vocalizations have demonstrated that some colonial seabirds can distinguish between a mate and other conspecifics (White, 1971; Brooke, 1978; Moseley, 1979; Wiley, Hatchwell & Davies, 1991; Aubin & Jouventin, 1998; Lengagne, Jouventin & Aubin, 1999; Aubin, Jouventin & Hildebrand, 2000; Lengagne *et al.*, 2000), and comparisons of responses to a mate and strangers suggest similar discriminations in other organisms as well (Mundinger, 1970; Caldwell, 1992; Rahman, Dunham & Govind, 2001).

Other binary classifications of conspecifics, however, do not have this specificity. For instance, individual specifity is less clear in studies of parent-offspring recognition. Playbacks or modifications of the appearance of young have demonstrated that parents can recognize their own young by auditory or visual cues (Miller & Emlen, 1974; Schommer & Tschanz, 1975; Beecher *et al.*, 1986; De Fanis & Jones, 1996; Aubin & Jouventin, 2002; Illmann *et al.*, 2002; Insley, Phillips & Charrier, 2003) or that young can recognize their parents (Beer, 1970; White, 1971; Leonard *et al.*, 1997; Aubin & Jouventin, 1998; Insley *et al.*, 2003; Charrier, Pitcher & Harcourt, 2009; Jacot, Reers & Forstmeier, 2009).

These studies have all demonstrated that subjects distinguish two categories of conspecifics. In some of these cases, when subjects each have a single mate or a single offspring, one of the two categories includes only a single individual. In other cases, the smaller category includes several individuals, several young or two parents, all of which evoke similar responses. In all cases of parental recognition of multiple offspring, parents have been shown to be capable of distinguishing their own offspring from others, but no evidence suggests that they differentiate among multiple offspring. Even when each parent cares preferentially for only a portion of a brood, responses to playbacks suggest that they recognize two categories of young, those they feed preferentially and all others (Draganoiu et al., 2006; Müller & Manser, 2008). Likewise, young animals often respond selectively to their parents (or preferential attendants), but there are no indications that multiple adults evoke different responses.

Studies of animals' responses to rivals encompass a variety of situations. Often they demonstrate a binary discrimination of familiar and unfamiliar conspecifics, but conclusions about individual specifity in recognition of rivals are usually uncertain. Many investigations of territorial behaviour have compared responses to vocalizations from neighbours and strangers (Weeden & Falls, 1959; Emlen, 1971; Brooks & Falls, 1975a, b; Stoddard, Beecher & Horning, 1990). Other experiments have compared responses to the odours or sight of familiar and strange individuals (Barash, 1974; Temeles, 1994; Leiser & Itzkowitz, 1999; Langen, Tripet & Nonacs, 2000; Husak, 2004). These experiments have shown that individuals respond differently towards these two sets of conspecifics, but they do not show the specificity of individual recognition. When animals' responses to rivals are studied in a laboratory, it is often possible to limit familiar rivals to a single individual, so that discrimination between familiar and unfamiliar rivals automatically has the specificity of individual recognition (Johnston & Bullock, 2001; Lai & Johnston, 2002; Lai et al., 2004; Petrulis, Weidner & Johnston, 2004). In natural circumstances individuals might have more than one familiar rival, so that a discrimination between familiar and strange rivals might not involve the specificity of individual recognition.

A similar situation arises in social insects. In some species, each colony develops a distinctive odour, which is used to exclude individuals from other colonies of the same species as well as to exclude other species (Breed *et al.*, 1995, 1998; Langen et al., 2000). Visual cues can also serve this purpose. Paper wasps use distinctive patterns on their cuticles to discriminate between nestmates and strangers (Tibbetts, 2002; Tibbetts & Curtis, 2007). None of these experiments, however, indicates recognition of individual nestmates. Once again experiments can sometimes limit familiar nestmates to a single individual. For instance, in some ants individuals use odour to discriminate between familiar and unfamiliar dominant individuals, and two founding queens show less aggression when they have had previous interactions with each than otherwise (D'Ettorre & Heinze, 2005; Dreier, Van Zweden & D'Ettorre, 2007). As in similar cases above, it is not clear that familiar rivals in natural circumstances would always be limited to a single individual.

Another parallel appears in group-living birds. In at least one species members of a group are known to respond less aggressively to vocalizations from other members of their group than to similar vocalizations from outsiders (Wiley & Wiley, 1977; Price, 1999), again without evidence for differentiation of individuals within groups. A similar situation occurs in a group-living bat (Boughman & Wilkinson, 1998).

Discrimination between more and less familiar conspecifics is probably widespread among animals. This ability probably often extends to recognition of familiar members of an individual's social group. Probably all sensory modalities can serve for this discrimination in a wide variety of animals. Nevertheless, in most cases there is no evidence that individuals differentiate conspecifics within sets of familiar or unfamiliar rivals. A complicating factor is that familiarity with other conspecific individuals presumably varies nearly continuously. If so every individual must have one other that is most familiar. Nevertheless, there is no information for any species about its just-discriminable difference in familiarity. This information would allow us to estimate the sizes of sets of more and less familiar individuals. It remains uncertain whether discrimination of bins along a continuum of familiarity would ever attain the specificity of individual recognition.

Binary classifications of conspecifics, such as those demonstrated by nearly all experimental studies of recognition, reveal two fundamental features of recognition. First, recognition is a categorization of conspecifics into a least two sets of other individuals. Along with other kinds of categorization, it is one of the basic operations of any organism's nervous system and the foundation for more complex cognitive capabilites. Second, binary classifications of conspecifics vary in specificity over a wide scope. One of the two categories might include only a single other individual and the second all others, or the two categories might each include many other individuals. Along this continuum, there are differentiated responses to one sex, one age-class, parents, young, members of the same group, or any other category with one or more conspecifics. Even when one of two sets of conspecifics includes only a single other individual, it remains doubtful that this form of categorization parallels our own ability to recognize each other.

Classification of conspecifics might involve nested categories of progressively greater specificity. The narrowest of these categories might include single individuals, but some broader categories might include individuals that are not further differentiated. Recent studies of primates, for instance, indicate that at least some primates can differentiate both individuals and groups of kin (Cheney & Seyfarth, 1999; Bergman *et al.*, 2003; Wittig *et al.*, 2007*a*, *b*). It is not known, however, that all individuals associated with a category of kinship are further differentiated by their individual attributes. Even when baboons respond more strongly to cross-family than to within-family reversals of rank (Bergman *et al.*, 2003), it is hard to be sure that subjects do not associate some individuals only with categories of rank or kinship.

Such gradations of specificity no doubt characterize human recognition as well, although we rarely think about it. Assuming my experience is not unusual, professors are a good example. We routinely recognize students with different levels of specificity. For some we know names and other specific details or associations (recognition with individual specificity). For others we only know that they attend our lectures or did so in the past. Some we might identify as members of other groups. Some appear familiar but have no other associations for us. This variation in the specificity of categories recurs as a general feature of the classification of objects. Similar variation presumably occurs in the classification is not necessarily the same as our classifications of their social partners. And the complexity they achieve in recognizing conspecifics may or may not reach the complexity achieved by humans.

#### (2) Multiplicity of recognition

Parallels with human individual recognition increase when it is possible to demonstrate recognition of multiple individual conspecifics in similar situations. Multiplicity of recogniton has its own inherent interest also, because the increased complexity of classification requires more complex neural mechanisms. Multiplicity, like specificity, thus increases the cognitive demands of recognition. There are two situations in which this capability seems likely to occur: recognition of multiple rivals and recognition of partners within a social group.

# (a) Recognition of multiple rivals

A few studies have tried to determine whether or not territorial birds recognize their neighbours individually. Rather than including playbacks of a neighbour's and a stranger's songs at one place in a subject's territory, the procedure is elaborated to include an individual neighbour's vocalizations on both a boundary shared with that particular neighbour (a correct boundary) and one not so shared (an incorrect boundary). For comparisons these experiments include a second presentation at each boundary, sometimes a stranger's vocalizations (Falls & Brooks, 1975; Stoddard et al., 1991) and sometimes the opposite neighbour's (Wiley & Wiley, 1977; Godard, 1991; Godard & Wiley, 1995). In the first case there is evidence for individual recognition of neighbours if the subject behaves differently to the neighbour's vocalizations at the two boundaries, but equally to strangers. In the second case, evidence consists of weaker responses to each neighbour at the correct boundary and stronger at the incorrect one. Recognition of individuals is indicated if the relative intensity of responses evoked by the same two vocalizations, one from each of two neighbours, reverse as the presentations are shifted from one boundary to the other.

The design of such 'cross-neighbour' experiments is complex. Because each subject receives four presentations (two at each boundary), separated by time to allow the subject to resume normal behaviour, there are possibilities for an effect of order of presentation (Wiley & Wiley, 1977). Consequently, whether presentations of a neighbour's songs at an incorrect boundary are paired with another neighbour's songs or with a stranger's might make a difference. Stoddard et al. (1991), for instance, found differences in the behaviour of song sparrows Melospiza melodia toward a particular neighbour in the two locations when its vocalizations were paired with strangers' but not when paired with another neighbour's. He concluded that the former procedure was a more sensitive test for individual recognition of neighbours (Stoddard et al., 1991; Stoddard, 1996). This increased sensitivity might instead result from the greater salience of a stranger's song in general. Presentation of a stranger's songs might call the subject's attention to the site and thus increase the difference in responses to a particular neighbour

in the two locations. If so it might be best to present a stranger's songs before the neighbour's at both locations, rather than randomizing the order of presentation.

The alternative technique, pairing two neighbours' songs at two boundaries, lacks the possible potentiation of responses by a stranger's songs. It would thus provide a less sensitive test for recognition of individual neighbours (a negative result might be more likely). On the other hand, it would provide a more realistic test of the ongoing ability of territorial animals to differentiate particular neighbours and to track their locations.

Dominance hierarchies in social groups have also suggested individual recognition of rivals. However, linear hierarchies can form without any such recognition, simply as a result of intrinsic differences in threatening or fighting abilities, general experience with wins and losses, or status signals. Modifications of the appearance of individuals in dominance hierarchies provide evidence for differentiation between strangers and familiar opponents or between degrees of status signals (Guhl, 1968; Fugle et al., 1984; Rohwer, 1985; Møller, 1987; Slotow, 1993; Wiley et al., 1999), but they do not provide evidence for recognition of individual opponents or even relative dominance of particular opponents. Nevertheless, other evidence suggests that some fish and birds can differentiate sets of higher- and lower-ranking opponents among familiar individuals. Social inertia and bystander effects provide the strongest evidence for these categories of opponents (Wiley, 1990; Oliveira, McGregor & Latruffe, 1998; Wiley et al., 1999; Peake et al., 2001; Earley & Dugatkin, 2002), although the evidence so far does not establish that individual opponents are differentiated further. Evidence for recognition of individual opponents is stronger for primates, as discussed in the next section.

#### (b) Recognition of multiple partners in stable social groups

In addition to any differentiation of multiple rivals, individuals in social groups might also differentiate multiple conspecifics by their affiliative relationships. Observers of groups of animals are often convinced that their subjects can identify each other. Nevertheless, only experiments can confirm that subjects respond to stable features of individual partners and not solely to their partners' immediate behaviour or contexts. In groups of vervet monkeys Cercopithecus aethiops (now Chlorocebus pygerythrus) and chacma baboons Papio ursinus, for instance, playbacks of recorded vocalizations indicate capabilities for recognizing other individuals by sound, in other words associating others' vocalizations with previous social relationships (reviewed by Cheney & Seyfarth, 1990, 2007; Seyfarth & Cheney, 2000). Some of these experiments provide evidence that females categorize others into groups of matrilinearly related kin (Cheney & Seyfarth, 1986; Rendall, 1996). In baboons, for instance, females respond more to combinations of vocalizations indicating reversals of rank between other unrelated individuals than to those confirming existing ranks (Cheney, Seyfarth & Silk, 1995). Females also look at nearby unrelated individuals when combinations of vocalizations

indicate that their respective relatives are engaged in an agonistic interaction (Cheney & Seyfarth, 1999). They respond more strongly to combinations indicating rank reversals across matrilines than they do to those indicating reversals within matrilines (Bergman et al., 2003). In alliances and reconciliation, baboons also show an awareness of individuals' matrilineal relationships (Wittig et al., 2007a, b). In all of these ways, baboons show that they can associate the vocalizations of individuals with expected social relationships and can classify individuals by their matrilines. Similar studies demonstrate that vervets and macaques Macaca fascicularis not only recognize their own infants by voice or photograph but can also associate other infants with their mothers (Cheney & Seyfarth, 1980; Dasser, 1988). These studies thus provide evidence for high specificity and multiplicity in recognizing many members of the subject's group. Nevertheless, the limits of this multiplicity of individual recognition remain unexplored. We thus know that the baboons in any one troop are capable of recognizing some individuals some of the time, but not necessarily all individuals all of the time.

Presenting pictures of individuals to macaques and chimpanzees in captivity has also indicated recognition of individuals from the same troop (Rosenfeld & van Hoesen, 1979). Most of this research relies on matching to sample (the subject chooses a stimulus that most closely matches a target) (Parr, Winslow & Hopkins, 2000; Parr, 2003). This procedure has demonstrated expert abilities to categorize individuals. Nevertheless, it only indirectly supports an ability to differentiate multiple members of a social group. As with much of the research on human face recognition, this research focuses on the mechanisms for categorization of faces: the relative importance of features and configuration and the special mechanisms for recognition of faces as opposed to other forms of dedicated recognition (Tanaka & Farah, 1993; Gauthier, Behrmann, & Tarr, 1999; Gauthier & Logothetis, 2000; Leder & Bruce, 2000; Parr, 2003; Peterson & Rhodes, 2006; Tsao, Moeller & Freiwald, 2008; Wilmer et al., 2010; Calder et al., 2011).

In group-living birds, despite the presence of complex vocalizations, there is currently no experimental evidence for recognition of individual group members, although playbacks have shown recognition of group-specific vocalizations in birds (Wiley & Wiley, 1977; Nowicki, 1983; Farabaugh & Dooling, 1996; Price, 1999, 2003). Some highly social mammals also have complex individually specific calls, especially odontocete cetaceans. Aside from recognition of parents or offspring, so far no experiments have confirmed recognition of individuals within groups or group membership on the basis of these calls.

Aggregations of animals for breeding or feeding provide additional opportunities for recognition of multiple conspecifics. One possibility is differentiation of multiple neighbours in dense colonies of nesting birds, an ability that would resemble recognition of neighbours in species with large territories. In some colonial birds, individuals compete with established neighbours for nest material, but in other cases established neighbours appear to present no threat to each other. Shearwaters that nest in burrows or cavities provide an example: there is no nest material and evictions of nesting birds by other established nesters are unrecorded (Mackin, 2005). In a colony of Audubon's shearwater *Puffinus lherminieri*, playbacks revealed lower responses to established neighbours' calls than to strangers' (Mackin, 2005), a capability similar to differentiation of neighbours and strangers by birds with large territories. Here again there is no evidence of more specific differentiation of individual neighbours.

# **III. FAILURE OF RECOGNITION**

Ethologists often take it for granted that animals recognize each other. This impression is probably fostered by our tendencies to take recognition of other people for granted and to empathize with our subjects of study. In addition, it seems plausible that capabilities for complex learning in many birds and mammals might include individual recognition. This plausibility rests on an assumption that an aptitude for one kind of learning generalizes to other kinds. Although the generality or specialization of complex learning is a contentious issue (Shettleworth, 2000), studies of complex learning sometimes reveal special aptitudes that are not clearly related to general aptitudes for learning. Capabilities for spatial memory in food-caching birds provide an example (Kamil, Balda & Olson, 1994; Pravosudov & Clayton, 2002). Unlike the case of spatial memory, however, there have been few attempts to determine variation in or the limits of recognition.

Experiments that fail to demonstrate recognition, like all studies with negative results, are often difficult to interpret (Wiley & Wiley, 1977; Stoddard, 1996). An experiment might lack the statistical power to exclude alternatives to the null hypothesis. Even if statistical power is not a problem, evidence that animals fail to perform a task is never evidence that they cannot. A change in experimental conditions sometimes alters the result. Instead, just as comparisons of similar species have revealed differences in spatial memory, the best evidence that recognition has limitations comes from comparisons of species that differ in abilities to recognize conspecifics in similar situations.

Comparisons between closely related swallows have, for instance, established that species nesting solitarily do not recognize their own offspring, while those nesting in colonies do (Beecher *et al.*, 1986). Comparisons of gulls have shown that all species begin to recognize their own young at about the time the young leave the nests, although departure occurs soon after hatching in species that nest on the ground but not until fledging in species that nest on cliffs (Wooller, 1978). Penguins that raise their young in fixed nests use simpler cues for recognizing their single young than do penguins that breed in shifting colonies where fixed locations do not assist recognition (Jouventin & Aubin, 2002). Males of two species of baboon that differ almost 10-fold in mean size of troops also differ in abilities to recognize the calls of other males. Gelada baboons *Theropithecus gelada*, unlike the chacma baboons discussed above, do not recognize all of the males in their troops, not even all of those with which they regularly interact (Bergman, 2010).

There have also been attempts to examine whether or not the distinctiveness or complexity of birds' songs might affect possibilities for individual recognition in territorial birds. A recent such study (Wiley, 2005) compared species that defend overlapping territories of similar size in the understorey of forests in eastern North America. Male hooded warblers Wilsonia citrina each sing about 6-10 different song patterns, which often include distinct individual differences. As discussed above, differences in their responses to playbacks of a neighbour's songs at opposite territorial boundaries indicate that they can recognize the songs of individual neighbours. The difference in their responses to neighbours' and strangers' songs is even more pronounced. In nearly identical experiments in the same forest, by contrast, Acadian flycatchers Empidonax virescens do not respond differently to neighbours' and strangers' songs (Wiley, 2005). Unlike the warblers, the flycatchers sing a single pattern (aside from a somewhat different one at dawn), which has only subtle (although consistent) individual distinctions. As usual these distinctions are subject to degradation during propagation through the forest (Wiley, 1991). In this case, the failure of the flycatchers to recognize neighbours' songs, in experiments comparable to those with hooded warblers, coincides with a more difficult discrimination.

Male red-eyed vireos *Vireo olivaceus* also defend territories in these forests, although their territories are smaller than the flycatchers' or warblers' and their singing occurs mostly in the canopy rather than the understorey. Each male sings long bouts of brief but complex phrases without immediate repetitions. Each has a repertoire of about 40 different phrases, many of which are shared between neighbours. In two experiments, again similar to those with the warblers, Godard (1993*a*) failed to show that males differentiated the songs of individual neighbours.

Subtle distinctions and variable signals increase the difficulty of learning discriminations (Hearst, 1988; Miller & Escobar, 2003). The complex variability of vireos' songs and the near stereotypy of flycatchers' unlearned songs must make this task exceptionally difficult, especially in the acoustically complex environment of forests. The flycatchers, with their unlearned songs, perhaps cannot achieve sufficient individual distinctiveness in vocalizations to allow recognition in forests. The vireo appears to have evolved especially complex learned songs. Have the complex songs increased the difficulties of recognition? Or has the absence of an advantage for recognition permitted the evolution of such complexity in song? At least it is clear that recognition is not an automatic consequence of interacting with other individuals.

Differences in the timing of parents' recognition of offspring reinforce this conclusion, as seen in the comparisons of related species of gulls, swallows, and penguins mentioned above. As already mentioned, none of these cases is known to attain the specificity of individual recognition. Nevertheless, they show that capabilities for recognition sometimes fail to evolve in circumstances in which it is clear that they might have. As discussed below, these limitations provide evidence that recognition is an adaptive feature of behaviour.

There is obviously a need for more investigation of the limits of conspecific recognition in a variety of species. The most informative studies would focus on comparisons of similar species in different environments, of different species in the same environment, or different situations for the same species.

# IV. MECHANISMS OF RECOGNITION

#### (1) Association of multiple cues

Selective responses to cues from single individuals or small sets of individuals might result from a number of different neural or behavioural mechanisms. In many of the examples discussed so far, learning is presumably involved, but questions arise about the nature of this learning, its specificity, and its contexts.

These questions take on special importance in view of our convictions about human capabilities. Our abstract concept of another person sometimes attains great complexity, by associating many visual, auditory, and other cues in many contexts with many previous experiences. Yet we also have much less refined concepts of other people, based on associations of particular cues in particular contexts with particular experiences. As mentioned above, we sometimes recognize other people in a generic way, as a member of a set of individuals. Sometimes we recognize a person individually in the usual place but are uncertain when a chance encounter occurs elsewhere. Sometimes we are startled to see somebody new in a group of familiar people. Human capabilities for individual recognition perhaps never entirely transcend these constraints of familiarity, context, and imperfect specificity. It is thus worth considering the degree to which the mechanisms for recognition of conspecifics by animals involve associative learning, depend on context, and fail to achieve perfect specificity.

One approach is to use operant conditioning to study discrimination between cues from different conspecifics. These studies can reveal astonishing capabilities for discriminating between complex sets of signals from different individuals (Rosenfeld & van Hoesen, 1979; Stoddard et al., 1992). Such studies reveal possibilities of perception and memory in optimal conditions. Yet animals can acquire discriminations in the laboratory that they do not necessarily make in natural situations. The operant conditions might not occur in natural situations, or, if they do, the variability of signals, the uncertainty of contingencies, and the distractions of other stimulation might prevent or attenuate the acquisition of discriminations in natural conditions. Animals in natural situations probably allocate their attention to a greater variety of tasks than do animals in laboratories and consequently fail to maximize performance on any one task. Although conditioned discrimination can reveal the possibilities for recognition of conspecifics, it does not necessarily reveal the actualities in natural conditions.

An example of the relationship between conditioned discrimination and recognition is provided by laboratory studies of olfactory recognition by mammals. A number of studies have trained subjects to respond differently to odours from individual conspecifics (for example, Gheusi, 1997). In addition, animals often habituate specifically to the odours of a particular individual but retain responsiveness to those from another (for example, Mateo, 2002). Not all sources of odours produce such individual specificity in habituation. In some rodents, odours from urine do not have this specificity, although odours from various glands do (Johnston & Bullock, 2001). An ability to discriminate between olfactory cues from different individuals does not confirm that the subjects spontaneously associate the odours of individuals with any other previous experience with those individuals, as would be required for individual recognition in natural situations.

To investigate this latter possibility, Johnston & Bullock (2001) habituated male golden hamsters *Mesocricetus auratus* to one source of pheromones from females (either odours from the flank gland or from vaginal secretions) and then tested them for cross-habituation to the other source of pheromones from the same females. Habituation generalized to the second source of pheromones from the same female only when a male had had previous social interactions with her. The males had thus spontaneously associated the two odours from any one female in the course of normal social interactions. In somewhat similar experiments with Belding's ground squirrels *Spermophilus beldingi*, however, it was unclear that interactions with an individual affected cross-habituation (Mateo, 2006).

Male hamsters also associate individually specific odours with rivals (Petrulis *et al.*, 2004). Males that have lost a fight with a rival scent-mark less in response to the odours of that male than to those of unfamiliar males, even though the unfamiliar males had also won a fight with a another male. Tests for avoidance in a Y-maze confirmed that losers avoided familiar winners (Lai & Johnston, 2002). Losers of fights thus developed conditioned avoidance of stimuli associated specifically with their opponents.

These tests of responses to conspecific odours show that individual hamsters spontaneously associate multiple cues from the same individual in the course of routine interactions. The use of habituation to test for associations among cues, however, leaves open the question of how the subjects differ in their behaviour towards individual conspecifics other than by persistence in sniffing. Yet the demonstration that association of odours is facilitated by social interactions with a female (even when separated by a screen) provides the best evidence that different odours are associated with an individual rather than simply with each other.

#### (2) Context-dependent associations

True recognition, suggest Bee & Gerhardt (2002), requires independence from context. They provide evidence that

recognition of individual neighbours by bullfrogs (Rana *catesbeiana*) meets this criterion. In their experiments, males along the edge of a lake were habituated to calls presented at an appropriate distance along the edge. The males were then tested for generalization of habituation after a change in either the fundamental frequency of the call (within the natural range of variation among individuals) or the location of the call (the opposite direction along the edge of the lake). The subjects' responses recovered most strongly when both cues changed together, less when either cue alone changed, and least of all when neither cue changed. Nevertheless the recovery was not statistically significant when location alone changed, although it was when frequency changed. By accepting the null hypothesis of no recovery following change of location, they concluded that recognition depended on the frequency of a call independent of its location. The overall pattern of recovery, however, suggests the alternative possibility: independent habituation to the two cues, frequency and location.

In the experiments with hamsters discussed above, location might have influenced responses to odours. In all but one of these experiments, males were exposed to females one at a time in the males' home cages and subsequently tested in the same place for cross-habituation to odours from one or both of the females. In the one exception, males were exposed to soiled cages of females before testing for cross-habituation to their odours in the males' home cages. This situation is the only one that failed to provide evidence for crosshabituation. It is possible that males associate juxtaposed odours of females only when the males are in their home areas.

In some cases, it is clear that recognition is strongly limited by context. Birds whose flightless young remain in an easily located nest often rely on location and ignore conflicting intrinsic cues when identifying which young to feed (Wooller, 1978; Beecher, 1982). Nevertheless, even when parents recognize their own young primarily by location, it seems likely that repeated exposure to their young would result in some discrimination of intrinsic cues also. Cross-fostering experiments, such as those used to investigate parent-offspring recognition by birds, show that related species can differ in whether or not parents use location in preference to intrinsic cues to identify their young, but they do not show that those species relying on location do not also develop some recognition of intrinsic features of their young.

Probably all learning is to some extent dependent on context, in the sense that discriminations are always weakened more or less by shifts of context. At the same time, repeated exposure to individually specific cues probably always results in some discrimination. The pleiotropy of learning might assure enough generality to prevent absolute restrictions by context. The relative roles of contextual and intrinsic cues in recognition might well form a continuum between extremes rarely if ever attained.

Even habituation is affected by location. Following habituation to a sound, a change in its location results

in recovery of responses (Bee, 2001; Bee & Gerhardt, 2001). Such location-specific habituation occurs, for instance, in neurons in the brainstems of mammals. The experiments on hamsters' habituation to odours discussed previously show effects of location on habituation to olfactory signals.

When identification depends strongly on context, this form of recognition seems fundamentally different from our human experience of individual recognition. We feel that our own recognition of another human depends on an abstract concept of that individual, a concept that is absolutely independent of context. It is not clear though that even human capabilities for individual recognition ever achieve complete independence from context. Indeed, a review of facial recognition by humans indicated that context was the primary influence on accuracy of recognition (Shapiro & Penrod, 1986).

#### (3) Habituation and associative learning

The simplest neural mechanism for individual recognition requires nothing more than habituation to a frequent associate (Falls & Brooks, 1975; Wiley & Wiley, 1977; Bee & Gerhardt, 2001). Habituation seems to occur in all nervous systems (Pinsker et al., 1970; Buchwald & Humphrey, 1972) with some remarkably predictable properties that can result in simple discriminations between cues. Habituation is a progressive decrease in the intensity of response to a repeated stimulus (often following a transient increase in responsiveness as a result of sensitization or increased attention to the stimulus) and thus results in reduced responsiveness to this stimulus in comparison with others less frequently encountered (Thompson & Spencer, 1966; Groves & Thompson, 1970; Petrinovich, 1984). Following habituation, a change in the features of the stimulus, including its location, results in some recovery of response, the magnitude of which depends on the magnitude of change. An interval without stimulation also results in some recovery of the response. Greater variability in the stimulation and longer intervals between presentations reduce the rate of habituation per presentation. A second intense stimulus, even in a different modality, results in immediate recovery of the response (dishabituation), but the effect of a dishabituating stimulus itself habituates. Although some form of habituation might occur in all nervous systems, habituation does not necessarily occur at the same rate for every stimulus, and sometimes it is difficult to detect at all.

All of these features of habituation appear in many experiments with repeated playbacks of songs within a bird's territory (Lemon, Fieldes & Struger, 1981; Yasukawa, 1981). In these experiments habituation to songs repeated within a subject's territory often occurs within an hour. By contrast, similar presentations just outside subjects' territories in some cases produce no detectable habituation for hours at a time (Simpson, 1984). When familiar individuals evoke less response than others, individual recognition might involve no more than habituation to familiar cues, those encountered frequently, but not to unfamiliar cues. This situation could explain recognition of neighbours by territorial individuals. As discussed above, territorial neighbours in familiar locations (near correct boundaries) evoke less response from subjects than do strangers or neighbours in unfamiliar locations (incorrect boundaries).

In a series of experiments with bullfrogs, Bee & Gerhardt (2001) showed that decreased responses to neighbours fit all the expectations of habituation. By repeatedly playing a synthesized vocalization near calling males, they showed that responses decreased over periods of tens of minutes. A temporary suspension or a change to a slightly different dominant frequency resulted in a partial recovery of responses. Furthermore, a change of location also produced a partial recovery of responses. Thus the responses of bullfrogs seemed adequately explained by habituation alone. If males' responses to natural neighbours' calls, which presumably include somewhat greater variability in timing and features than recorded calls, are less than to strangers' and also recover when presented in novel directions, habituation might provide a full explanation for this case of individual recognition. Bee & Gerhardt (2001) pointed out that recognition of familiar neighbours in other species might also result from habituation, including habituation to the usual locations of individuals.

Nevertheless, evidence suggests that associative learning is at work during recognition of neighbours at least in some birds and mammals. Realizing that the reduced responses to familiar neighbours would make it difficult to differentiate between habituation and associative learning, Richards (1979) took advantage of a male eastern towhee Pipilo erythrophthalmus with an extraordinary song. Its repertoire included a close match of a Carolina wren's Thryothorus ludoviciana song. The neighbours of this male responded to recordings of this unusual song, although less than to a strange towhee's song, but other towhees ignored it completely as they did actual wrens' songs. The neighbours must thus have associated the unusual song with their familiar rival. Other towhees without this experience continued to ignore the song. This case of recognition thus excludes habituation because neighbours responded more strongly to the wren's song than did other towhees. More attention to the neighbours and associates of individuals with abnormal features could reveal more about the mechanisms of individual recognition.

Other results also indicate associative learning of territorial neighbours. Song sparrows, for instance, when they cannot exactly match a neighbour's songs, respond by selecting a song from their own repertoires that matches a song in the neighbour's repertoire (Beecher, 1996). Hooded warblers' reduced responsiveness to their neighbours persists between breeding seasons, a period of about eight months, during which they would not have heard their neighbours (Godard, 1991). Furthermore, a hooded warbler increases aggression toward a neighbour near their mutual boundary after playbacks that simulate an intrusion by the neighbour into the subject's territory. A simulated intrusion by a stranger does not affect responses to the neighbour near the mutual boundary (Godard, 1993*b*; see further discussion below). In this case, responses to a neighbour's songs in one context increase after previous exposure to those songs in another context. Individual recognition in this case must include associative learning in addition to any effects of habituation.

Recognition of territorial neighbours that constantly change locations and produce repertoires of songs presents formidable problems of object constancy and classification. How the multiple manifestations of any individuals' vocalizations (different variants at the source, different locations, different times, different modifications by degradation during transmission) all become associated with a particular set of responses by another individual is not obvious. It remains unknown whether individual recognition in birds, for instance, fits any of the possibilities for classification under investigation for humans (single or multiple dimensions, exemplars or thresholds, preconceived prototypes or rules).

None of these results exclude a role for habituation in recognition of neighbours, but they do indicate a role for associative learning in some species. In some cases, it is probable that a nervous system would first associate a stimulus with a consequence and subsequently habituate to the stimulus. The neighbours of the towhee with the unusual song must have associated the song with a neighbour but then perhaps habituated to it in the course of many inconsequential repetitions during the breeding season. Presumably these neighbours would have responded more strongly to a strange towhee's songs, in accordance with the results for many other territorial birds. We do not know how they would have responded to an unfamiliar wren's songs.

#### (4) Conclusions

There is thus evidence for recognition of individual conspecifics (or small sets of conspecifics) by associative learning, by habituation, and by context alone. There is also evidence for the association of multiple cues from individuals. In nearly all cases, we lack a full understanding of the role of context or location in recognition. Although humans and at least some animals can achieve prodigious feats of recognition in the course of normal social interactions, we have much more to learn about the degree and nature of differences between related species and between human and other animals' capabilities. Nevertheless, it is apparent that recognition of conspecifics varies among species not only in the degree of specificity of recognition but also in the complexity of the cognitive mechanisms for recognition.

#### V. OPTIMAL LEVELS OF RECOGNITION

Although there is still much to learn about the specificity and multiplicity of recognition and the neural and behavioural mechanisms that produce it, it is clear that many animals can recognize individual conspecifics and in some cases this recognition is remarkably complex. This capability might evolve by natural selection as a result of advantages gained by organisms that can recognize conspecifics in particular circumstances. Alternatively it might evolve as a pleiotropic consequence of a generalized advantage for learning. At issue is whether recognition of conspecifics is a specialized modular form of learning or an aspect of generalized abilities for learning. It thus provides a model for investigating the evolution of specialized or generalized cognition.

The evolution of individual recognition has interest for other reasons as well, because it has consequences for the evolution of other aspects of social behaviour. The possibilities for both competition and cooperation depend on capabilities for individual recognition. Furthermore, these possibilities differ depending on whether or not the mechanisms of recognition rely on associative learning or solely on habituation.

This section considers these issues. First, it focuses on the evolution of specialized capabilities for individual recognition. Second, it takes up the consequences of individual recognition for the evolution of complex forms of competition and cooperation.

#### (1) Evolution of specificity in recognition

The examples discussed above show that recognition of conspecifics does not always attain individual specificity nor more than binary multiplicity, even when human observers can do so. The gulls, swallows, and penguins already mentioned provide good examples. In each case, parents begin to recognize their offspring when the young leave the nest. In cliff-nesting gulls, young are confined to their nest until they can fly; in ground-nesting gulls, young abandon their nests to seek cover from predators, including other gulls, as soon as they can scramble on their own feet. In neither case is there evidence that parents recognize each of their young individually, nor achieve more than a binary classification of conspecific young. Recognition in this case occurs when and to the extent that there is a 'need to know'. The swallows provide a parallel example. Barn Swallows, which have solitary nests, do not develop recognition of offspring before the young leave the nest, whereas cliff swallows, which nest in dense colonies where there is always a chance that returning parents might mistake a neighbour's nest for their own, recognize the vocalizations of their young at an early stage. In both cases recognition is no more complex than needed and develops only when needed. We might expect gulls and swallows to develop more specific recognition of individual offspring once the young leave the nest and accompany their parents while foraging and roosting.

The evolution of complexity in recognition is a special case of the evolution of learning in general. Learning in turn is a form of developmental plasticity. In the case of learning, an individual's behaviour (and presumably the structure and physiology of its nervous system) adjusts to changing situations in the course of its life. Perhaps all features of every organism, whether behavioural or not, have some degree of plasticity during development if for no other reason than the development (epigenesis) of any organism results from an interaction between the genes it inherits and the environment in which it lives. Some features of an organism develop with remarkable predictability over the range of environmental variation ordinarily encountered by a species or population (or in experimental situations over even wider ranges). These features are often called 'innate' features of an organism, those that develop predictably regardless of relatively wide (but not indefinitely wide) environmental variation. Biologists also call these features 'canalized' to indicate that development proceeds on a predictable course despite relatively wide variation in environmental conditions. By contrast, the development of other features of an organism depend closely on specific features of the organism's environment or, in other words, its specific experience. The course of epigenesis is thus in some cases affected only by broadly general features of the environment and in other cases by highly specific features.

The nervous system shows this spectrum of epigenetic or developmental plasticity like other features of organisms. As a result some features of behaviour are 'innate', independent of environmental variation over a wide range of normal environments; others require complex associative learning as a result of particular kinds of experience. Between these extremes, however, there are features of behaviour that are neither innate nor learned in detail. Habituation, for example, produces a simple form of behavioural plasticity that occurs in an extremely wide range of animals and in response to nearly all forms of stimulation. Sensitization to repeated or continual stimulation is another widespread form of behavioural plasticity and often precedes habituation. Habituation results from an association of sensory input and motor output, not just adapation of its sensory cells (another general feature of animals' nervous systems), and is thus a property of an animal's central nervous system (Marler & Hamilton, 1967; Kandel, 1977). Because it results in greater responsiveness to an unfamiliar stimulus than to a familiar one, it results in a simple form of discrimination.

Comparable features of related species often differ in their developmental plasticity (West-Eberhard, 2003). The degree of plasticity in development evolves by natural selection in accordance with the degree to which more canalized or more plastic development increases survival and reproduction. The advantages of canalization or plasticity presumably depend on the predictability of environmental conditions. When relevant environmental features do not change from generation to generation, then genes associated with canalized development are expected to spread in a population. The additional complexity to produce predictable responses to different environmental conditions is lost when it provides no advantage. When environmental conditions are not constant from one generation to the next, then genes associated with plasticity can spread in a population, as those organisms that can adjust to the current conditions each generation survive and reproduce more successfully.

When simpler mechanisms achieve the same advantages for survival or reproduction as complex ones, then accumulation of neutral mutations should prohibit the evolution of complexity and degrade developmental mechanisms to a simpler level. This degradation of complex mechanisms to simpler ones with equal advantages would eventually result in organisms with sufficient complexity, and no more, for successful survival and reproduction in a particular environment. We should expect capabilities for recognition to evolve in this way. Recognition of offspring by gulls, swallows, and penguins, reviewed above, confirm this expectation of just enough complexity and no more.

A prediction that recognition should occur only when it is advantageous is also supported by two cases of facultative recognition, both involving territorial birds. Song sparrows in a resident population in Washington, which normally differentiate among their neighbours in responses to playbacks near boundaries, ceased doing so on an occasion when high mortality had caused territorial instability with increased numbers of new territories and shifts in boundaries (Stoddard *et al.*, 1991; Stoddard, 1996). Male Carolina wrens differentiate neighbours and strangers' songs in the spring, when nesting is beginning but territories are stable, but not in the autumn, when territorial boundaries are shifting as young birds establish new territories before winter arrives (Hyman, 2002).

Neff & Sherman (2002) make a somewhat similar argument about the evolution of learning. They emphasize that learned recognition should evolve only when it provides a more reliable cue for advantageous behaviour than an evolved genetic predisposition would. They thus focus on the advantages of plasticity as opposed to canalization of behaviour. The preceding argument extends their emphasis on natural selection of developmental mechanisms to include complexity as well. Neural and behaviour complexity in recognition evolves only when there is a 'need to know'. Otherwise complex developmental mechanisms do not evolve, or if they have previously evolved, they degrade to simpler ones.

Recognition of kin provides another example of this principle. Like recognition of offspring, recognition of other kin often lacks individual specificity. For instance, recognition of close kin by long-tailed tits Aegithalos caudatus depends on the development of calls resembling those of close associates early in life, normally their siblings and parents (Sharp et al., 2005). In many mammals as well, spatial association is important for the development of kin recognition. For instance, in ground squirrels Spermophilus spp., recognition among female kin first appears as young animals emerge from their natal burrows and depends on both prior spatial association and genetic similarity (Holmes & Sherman, 1982; Holmes, 1995; Mateo, 2003). Rather than adjust their behaviour according to the degree of kinship with individual relatives, these animals appear to develop a binary classification of conspecifics as relatives and non-relatives.

In all of these cases, recognition develops only enough complexity and only in time for a 'need to know'. Despite some evidence that the ground squirrels might use some cues associated with genetic similarity, the overwhelming influence on the development of recognition is the association of offspring with a nest or burrow. Recognition of sets of offspring, parents, and siblings can all use this same 'rule of thumb'. In some cases, these forms of recognition might require only habituation. Familiar individuals, normally kin, evoke less antagonistic and more affiliative behaviour than do unfamiliar individuals. To a degree that has not been determined, kin recognition by mammals might require no more developmental complexity than found in the nervous systems of a wide spectrum of animals. Habituation and sensitization of responses to familiar stimulation are enough for recognition of individual (or small sets of) conspecifics.

Greater specificity in recognition would have advantages whenever individuals move around or are otherwise likely to raise the possibility of confusion with others. Such conditions are likely when cohesive social groups include more than one lineage of relatives, as in some cetaceans and primates (Sayigh *et al.*, 1995; Janik, Sayigh & Wells, 2006; Cheney & Seyfarth, 2007). Greater multiplicity in recognition would have advantages whenever it pays to respond differently to many individual conspecifics. Such conditions are likely when individuals interact with other conspecifics in specialized ways. These possibilities arise in some cases of cooperation and competition.

# (2) Individual recognition and the evolution of cooperation

Cooperation occurs between individuals when they both realize benefits greater than the costs of their interaction. It differs from mutualism, which occurs when both individuals benefit but there is no cost to their interaction. In other words, each realizes a greater benefit in the presence of the other, but it would pay for both do the same thing even if the other was absent. Cooperation also differs from situations that lack any contingency in the interaction of the two individuals. This distinction is important, because, when no physical necessity compels two individuals to interact, the possibility arises that one of them will fail to return the benefit after receiving it. Contingency thus creates the possibility of cheating. Some forms of cooperation are so intricate and intimate (for instance, some corals, lichens, mycorrhiza) that contingency seems to be missing. Yet the incipient stages of these forms of cooperation offer greater scope for contingency and thus cheating. Furthermore, many cases of collaboration and sharing by pairs or groups of birds and mammals, and especially humans, come with obvious risks of contingency. The goal here is to understand the importance of individual recognition in the evolution of cooperation with contingency.

An early proposal for the evolution of such cooperation focused on reciprocity between individual partners (Trivers, 1971). The first quantitative confirmation of this possibility indicated that a specific form of reciprocity, tit-for-tat (first cooperate, then match your partners' previous action), could spread in a population despite the presence of cheaters (Axelrod & Hamilton, 1981). Subsequently a number of other possibilities for the evolution of cooperation have included modified tit-for-tat (with preliminary testing of each partner for cooperation), pavlovian tactics (a win-stay/loseshift rule that requires behaviour contingent on both the actor's and the partner's previous actions), shared rather than reciprocated benefits, indirect reciprocation (when the actor's behaviour depends on the partner's interactions with others), punishment or bribing of noncooperators, and recognition of other cooperators by shared tags (Reeve & Keller, 1997; Riolo, Cohen & Axelrod, 2001; Bowles & Gintis, 2004; Nowak & Sigmund, 2005). In addition, persistent spatial association can promote the evolution of cooperation (Nowak, Bonhoeffer & May, 1994; Koella, 2000; Mitteldorf & Wilson, 2000).

The simulations that provide the theoretical basis for these conclusions make two fundamentally different assumptions about individuals' interactions. Some assume unstructured environments in which many individuals interact randomly. Others assume structured environments in which individuals only interact with a few partners. These two cases differ in the presence or absence of limitations on individuals' movements. In natural situations, these two extremes might intergrade.

For some sessile invertebrates, it is presumably nearly impossible for an individual to move to a new location. In less extreme cases, individuals sharing a safe location might face high costs of emigration, so that small groups of individuals would tend to remain together. A group might itself provide a degree of safety, in contrast to the risk of emigration. When individuals interact in small groups, some groups might include only cooperators by chance (Wilson, 1979).

These simulations also make two fundamentally different assumptions about the allocation of benefits. Some assume that benefits of cooperation are shared, and others that they are reciprocated. When benefits are reciprocated, for instance when partners feed or groom each other, the case resembles 'tit-for-tat'. In this case a cooperator with a defecting partner gets the sucker's payoff, a punishment for attempting to cooperate. By contrast, benefits from vigilance or confrontation of predators are shared among partners. As in the 'snow-drift game', a cooperator and a defecting partner each get reduced benefits. If the cost is low in relation to the shared benefit, then a cooperator with a defecting partner can still receive a net benefit and thus avoid a sucker's payoff. Consequently, when benefits of cooperation are shared between partners, rather than reciprocated, cooperation is more likely to evolve.

Some of these possibilities obviously require recognition of specific individuals. To play tit-for-tat, for instance, individuals must keep track of their previous interactions with partners. Specific recognition of multiple individuals is needed. Indirect reciprocation also requires specific recognition of at least some individuals, those with reputations as cooperators. Punishment of individuals that do not cooperate also requires recognition of individuals. Other possibilities, by contrast, do not need such cognitive capabilities. For instance, individuals might adjust their behaviour to their previous experience in general, rather than with each partner individually. These generalized pavlovian tactics or generalized reciprocity (win-stay/loseshift) can result in the evolution of cooperation, although the outcome depends on initial conditions. Populations starting with few pavlovian cooperators tend to stay that way, while those starting with many pavlovian cooperators evolve cooperation, despite the absence of individual recognition. Thus this situation might apply to the maintenance of cooperation rather than to its initial spread.

These investigations of the evolution of cooperation also differ in their basic goals. One thread has focused on identifying the simplest conditions for cooperation, without assumptions about the cognitive capacities of organisms. The other has focused on cognitive complexities that might set human cooperation apart from that of other organisms. The goal here, however, differs from both of these. It is the degree to which cognitive capabilities can promote the evolution of cooperation. This perspective changes the conclusions we reach.

For instance, although theory makes it clear that spatial constraints on individuals' interactions can alone result in the evolution of cooperation, in every such case the addition of individual recognition would make cooperation more likely. Even sessile organisms would benefit from individual specificity in responses, in order to restrict cooperation to those neighbours that in fact reciprocated. Shared benefits can promote the evolution of cooperation, even without individual recognition, but in every such case the addition of individual recognition would make cooperation more likely, because cooperators would be more likely to share mutually. Generalized pavlovian reciprocity can maintain cooperation, or in special cases promote its spread, but again a shift to individual recognition would make cooperation more likely. Even among humans, the ease of individual recognition in interactions between different ethnic groups might affect the probability of cooperation. In every case, capabilities for individual recognition promote the spread and maintenance of cooperation.

When our focus shifts in this way from the sufficient conditions for the evolution of cooperation to the optimal conditions, the specificity of recognition becomes critical. Discrimination of familiar and strange individuals, or other sets of conspecifics, might restrict interactions between individuals in much the same way that spatial constraints on interactions would. It would not, however, allow individuals to adjust their behaviour to particular partners, as required for tit-for-tat or indirect reciprocation. In these cases it is crucial to determine whether or not individuals achieve specificity of individual recognition.

In groups of individuals with long-term associations, a situation in which reciprocity often occurs, it is not easy to demonstrate individual specificity in recognition. The familiar case of vampire bats *Desmodus rotundus* provides an example (Wilkinson, 1990). At their daytime roosts, bats regurgitating food for another to eat are usually (77/110 occasions) mothers feeding dependent offspring, but in 21/28 other cases females fed other females. The donors and recipients in these cases also tended to associate with each other at these roosting trees (Wilkinson, 1985*a*). This strong pattern of feeding frequent associates could result from individuals' preferences for locations within roosts or

for other individuals with familiar odours. Better evidence that prior association itself influences feeding comes from an experiment with captive bats. An experimental group included adult females from each of two roosting groups 50 km apart (three and four individuals, respectively). In this situation, regurgitations of food to starved individuals almost always occurred between adult females from the same original groups (12/13 occasions) (Wilkinson, 1985a, 1984). This preference indicates some ability to recognize familiar associates, but not necessarily recognition of individuals. Only recognition of specific individuals would permit identification of cheaters within a group. This experiment also suggested that a starved female was likely to receive food from a bat she had herself previously fed (Wilkinson, 1984). Although this result does indicate recognition of specific partners, it is not clear that it reached statistical significance (in six trials with eight possible reciprocators present, including the same individuals in different trials, the expected number of reciprocating individuals was 2.7, while the observed number was 4). This captive group thus provided evidence for a clear effect of familiarity on cooperation but not necessarily for individual recognition.

The natural situation is further complicated by the persistence of matrilines in roosting groups. Roosting groups include 8-12 adult females that remain together for years (Wilkinson, 1984). Yearling females usually remain in their natal groups, and an immigrant joins a group only about once every 2 years on average (Wilkinson, 1985b). Thus preferences for locations (both for roosting trees and for locations within them) and the resulting familiarity with particular individuals might serve as rules of thumb for identifying kin, much as among the ground squirrels, solitary swallows, cliff-nesting gulls, and burrow-nesting penguins discussed above. Such rules of thumb, if they promoted interactions among close relatives, might explain the evolution of cooperation by kin selection. Cooperation between unrelated individuals might also evolve in this situation, as a consequence of the long-term stability of roosting groups, but there would be no deterrent to cheating unless bats could recognize individuals within groups.

The phenomenon of 'dear enemies' among territorial neighbours is another example of specificity in cooperation between unrelated individuals, even when persistent spatial association might be sufficient for the evolution of cooperation. If two established neighbours can agree on a boundary, they might reduce the time and energy spent in their interactions and thus both benefit by the additional time and energy to deal with with interlopers, mates, or young. Although only a few studies seem to have considered the possibility, at least a few have reported that established neighbours (for instance, birds with neighbours returning from a previous season) are more successful in reproduction than are others with fewer returning and more new neighbours (Beletsky, 1989; Eason & Hannon, 1994; Grabowska-Zhang, Wilkin & Sheldon, 2012). Dear enemies are an example of true reciprocation, not sharing, because one individual receives no benefits if its partner does not participate.

Does a capability for recognizing specific individuals contribute to cooperation between territorial neighbours? There is one compelling case. As described above, evidence suggests that hooded warblers can recognize their different neighbours individually. Godard (1993b) tested the possibility that neighbouring hooded warblers use individual recognition to play tit-for-tat with each other. Her experiment, mentioned briefly above, simulated a deep intrusion by a neighbour into each subject's territory. The subjects responded weakly to the neighbour near the boundary before the intrusion, but strongly after the intrusion. Thus the transgression of a neighbour resulted in increased aggression by the subject soon afterwards. To control for the possibility that an intrusion by any other bird might arouse the subject, she included simulated intrusions by a stranger. In this case, the subject responded to the neighbour relatively weakly both before and after the intrusion. The increased response to a neighbour after a simulated intrusion was therefore specific to the intruding individual. Individual recognition in this case permited a form of tit-for-tat between individually recognized 'dear enemies'.

Reciprocity in birds also occurs during defence of nests. An individual is more likely to assist in mobbing a predator in a neighbour's territory when the neighbour has assisted in its own territory previously (Olendorf, Getty & Scribner, 2004; Krams *et al.*, 2008). In great tits *Parus major*, neighbours familiar with each other from the previous year are more likely to assist each other than are new neighbours, and birds nesting for the first time never assist their neighbours (Grabowska-Zhang, Sheldon & Hinde, 2012). Reciprocity in mobbing might thus depend on longestablished familiarity of individuals with each other. Unlike in the 'dear enemy' relationships, birds participating in mobbing might themselves benefit directly by learning about potential predators or by mutually discouraging predators in the general vicinity of their own nests.

The multiplicity of recognition affects the possibilities for the evolution of complex forms of cooperation. Indirect reciprocity requires capabilities for tracking the behaviour of many individuals at once. Among primates, reciprocity often lacks immediate contingency. Nevertheless, reciprocity routinely occurs between partners with longestablished familiarity (Cheney et al., 2010; Cheney, 2011). The prevalence of this habit of reciprocity in primates remains uncertain for at least two reasons. First, it is difficult to establish the costs and benefits of the behaviour often involved, such as grooming, sharing surplus food, access to infants, and even routine alliance. Also problematic is the multiplicity of recognition in primate troops. Does recognition with individual specificity extend to all troop members at all times? If not, is reciprocity between individuals contingent on recognition? Certainly the development of long-term memories of other multiple individuals' behaviour would promote indirect reciprocity.

Attempts to elicit cooperative behaviour in captive monkeys and apes have not always succeeded. In one of the successful studies (Mendres & de Waal, 2000), the cooperating individuals were in continuous sight of each other during a shared task. The continuous spatial association of two individuals greatly simplifies the cognitive problem of monitoring a partner's behaviour. The laboratory setting thus does not reproduce the challenges for multiplicity in individual recognition and thus reciprocity in natural settings.

#### (3) Recognition during competition

Individual recognition might also have advantages in exploiting competition. If an individual that loses (or wins) a contest with another individual is likely to do the same in the future, it would pay to recognize rivals to avoid unnecessary contests (or not to miss opportunities unnecessarily). When some conspecifics pose a threat in competition for nestsites or territories and others do not, it can pay to focus attention on the 'real enemies', as in the case of recognition of neighbours by shearwaters (Mackin, 2005) or to adjust responses in relation to the level of threat from different classes of opponents (Temeles, 1994).

Recognition of rivals in some cases might not require recognition of specific individuals. Instead, it would be sufficient to recognize two groups of conspecifics, those higher and lower in dominance. In this case, a rule of thumb might provide this level of specificity. For example, status signals or behaviour that reflects an individual's overall wins and losses can produce a linear hierarchy without a need for individual recognition of opponents. Social inertia, as mentioned above, provides evidence that birds can differentiate sets of higherand lower-ranking opponents (Wiley *et al.*, 1999). Even in this case, unless coat-tail effects occur, there is no indication that individuals recognize more specific classes of opponents. Linear hierarchies require no more than recognition of two categories of relative ranks.

Piñon jays *Gymnorhinus cyanocephalus* appear to judge the relative dominance of unknown opponents by observing their interactions with known individuals (Bond, Kamil & Balda, 2004). Gradations in the behaviour of the observing individuals indicated that they had acquired quantitative estimates of the dominance of the unknown opponents, rather than an association of the newcomers with previously learned sets of higher- or lower-ranking opponents. It would, however, be necessary to rule out the possibility that the unknown opponents' behaviour did not provide direct quantitative cues for the observing individuals' initial reactions to them.

In some situations individuals might resist being recognized individually or mimic another individual to promote confusion. The widespread tendency of male songbirds to mimic the songs of their established neighbours fits in this category. Younger or otherwise less competitive males might mimic vocalizations of more competitive neighbours, if mimicry minimized interactions with an established neighbour or with strange rivals, or if mimicry of a competitive male provided an advantage in attracting mates. Another possibility is that young animals are selected to avoid recognition if they could thereby avoid persecution by adults other than their parents or even to obtain food from them. This situation arises in dense colonies, where adults often attack young other than their own. Nevertheless, young are also under selection to increase their individuality in order to facilitate interactions with parents. Young birds might achieve a compromise by combining convergent appearance but distinctive voices, as sounds can usually be presented or withheld as necessary. A similar situation arises in broods with multiple paternity. Because males might discriminate against young other than their own, it would presumably pay for extra-pair young to blend with the paternal offspring. Premature development of individuality might inadvertently reveal paternity as well. In general it would pay to minimize individuality whenever individuals can avoid discrimination or exploit confusion by conspecifics.

#### (4) Conclusions

Available evidence suggests that the specificity and multiplicity of recognition are adjusted by natural selection for the task at hand. If the cognitive mechanisms for recognition require structures other than those that also serve other purposes, then the mechanisms for recognition should evolve an optimal level of complexity for each task. In some cases minimizing individuality has advantages. In other cases, discrimination of familiar and unfamiliar conspecifics suffices. Greater specificity and multiplicity in recognition evolves when their advantages are correspondingly great. Such advantages are particularly likely in complex forms of cooperation. The extraordinary capability of humans for individual recognition might thus have evolved in conjunction with our similarly extraordinary capabilities for deception and cooperation.

# VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Recognition of conspecifics consists of a classification of individuals that can vary in specificity (the number of individuals included in a set) and multiplicity (the number of sets differentiated).

(2) Few studies of recognition have addressed the specificity and multiplicity of the classification of other individuals.

(3) Some reports of individual recognition have demonstrated individual specificity, but others have only shown discrimination of familiar and unfamiliar individuals.

(4) Recognition of multiple individuals has so far been documented in animals other than primates only for territorial neighbours of passerine birds.

(5) Dominance hierarchies do not require individual recognition, and social inertia requires only an ability to differentiate sets of high- and low-ranking individuals.

(6) Although primates provide the best evidence for high specificity and multiplicity in recognition of social partners, the limits of these capabilities remain unexplored.

(7) Comparison of species with similar social behaviour in similar habitats has revealed that they can differ markedly in their abilities for individual recognition.

(8) The mechanisms of individual recognition can include the association of multiple features of the same individual.

(9) The recognition of individuals, like other forms of associative learning, often depends on context, and in some cases context provides the only cues for recognition.

(10) In some cases habituation is sufficient to produce individual recognition, but recognition of multiple individuals can require associative learning.

(11) Capabilities for associative learning, a form of phenotypic plasticity, should evolve sufficient complexity, and no more, for successful survival and reproduction in a particular environment.

(12) In confirmation of this expectation, complex capabilities for specificity and multiplicity of recognition are narrowly associated with corresponding advantages.

(13) The evolution of cooperation does not require individual specificity of recognition but is, nevertheless, always promoted by this capability.

(14) Among animals other than primates, only in the case of territorial neighbours of birds has individual recognition been demonstrated in cooperative interactions.

(15) The extraordinary capability of humans for individual recognition might have evolved in conjunction with our similarly extraordinary capabilities for deception and cooperation.

(16) The cognitive challenge of individual recognition in humans, although largely unexplored, might rival that of language.

#### VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank especially the many students who, over a period of decades, have debated issues about individual recognition, especially Douglas Richards, Lynn Moseley, Barbara Simpson, Lorna Dove, Jean Boal, Renee Godard, Walter Piper, Don Dearborn, Lori Wollerman, Laura Steadman, Dana Moseley, Jordan Price, and William Mackin. Robert Seyfarth provided many helpful suggestions. My deepest gratitude goes to my wife, Minna Wiley, who has contributed to so much of my work.

#### VIII. REFERENCES

- AUBIN, T. & JOUVENTIN, P. (1998). Cocktail-party effect in king penguin colonies. Proceedings of the Rayal Society of London Series B 265, 1665-1673.
- AUBIN, T. & JOUVENTIN, P. (2002). Localisation of an acoustic signal in a noisy environment: the display call of the king penguin *Aptenodytes patagonicus*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **205**, 3793–3798.
- AUBÍN, T., JOUVENTIN, P. & HILDEBRAND, C. (2000). Penguins use the two-voice system to recognize each other. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B* 267, 1081–1087.
- AXELROD, R. & HAMILTON, W. (1981). The evolution of cooperation. *Science* 211, 1390–1396.
- BARASH, D. P. (1974). Neighbor recognition in two "solitary" carnivores: the raccoon (*Procyon lotor*) and the red fox (*Vulpes fulva*). Science **185**, 794–796.
- BEE, M. A. (2001). Habituation and sensitization of aggression in bullfrogs (Rana catesbeiana): testing the dual-process theory of habituation. *Journal of Comparative* Psychology 115, 307–316.

- BEE, M. A. & GERHARDT, H. C. (2001). Neighbour-stranger discrimination by territorial male bullfrogs (*Rana catesbeiana*): II. Perceptual basis. *Animal Behaviour* 62, 1141–1150.
- BEE, M. A. & GERHARDT, H. C. (2002). Individual voice recognition in a territorial frog (*Rana catesbeiana*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B 269, 1443–1448.
  BEECHER, M. D. (1982). Signature systems and kin recognition. American Zoologist 22,
- 477.
   BEECHER, M. D. (1996). Repertoire matching between neighbouring song sparrows.
- Animal Behaviour 51, 917–923.
- BEECHER, M. D., MEDVIN, M. D., STODDARD, P. K. & LOESCHE, P. (1986). Acoustic adaptations for parent-offspring recognition in swallows. *Experimental Biology* 45, 179–193.
- BEER, C. (1970). On the responses of laughing gull chicks to the calls of adults I. Recognition of the voices of the parents. *Animal Behaviour* 18, 652–660.
- BELETSKY, L. D. (1989). Familiar neighbors enhance breeding success in birds. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 86, 7933-7936.
- BERGMAN, T. J. (2010). Experimental evidence for limited vocal recognition in a wild primate: implications for the social complexity hypothesis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences* 277, 3045–3053.
- BERGMAN, T. J., BEEHNER, J. C., CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (2003). Hierarchical classification by rank and kinship in baboons. *Science* **302**, 1234–1236.
- BOND, A. B., KAMIL, A. C. & BALDA, R. P. (2004). Pinyon jays use transitive inference to predict social dominance. *Nature* 430, 778–781.
- BOUCHMAN, J. & WILKINSON, G. (1998). Greater spear-nosed bats discriminate group mates by vocalizations. *Animal Behaviour* 55, 1717–1732.
- BOWLES, S. & GINTIS, H. (2004). The evolution of strong reciprocity: cooperation in heterogeneous populations. *Theoretical Population Biology* 65, 17–28.
- BREED, M. D., GARRY, M. F., PEARCE, A. N., BJOSTAD, L., HIBBARD, B. & PAGE, R. E. (1995). The role of wax comb in honey bee nestmate recognition. *Animal Behaviour* 50, 489–496.
- BREED, M. D., LEGER, E. A., PEARCE, A. N. & WANG, Y. J. (1998). Comb wax effects on the ontogeny of honey bee nestmate recognition. *Animal Behaviour* 55, 13–20.
- BROOKE, M. D. L. (1978). Sexual differences in the voice and individual vocal recognition in the Manx shearwater. *Animal Behaviour* 26, 622–629.
- BROOKS, R. J. & FALLS, J. B. (1975a). Individual recognition by song in white-throated sparrows. I. Discrimination of songs of neighbors and strangers. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 53, 879–888.
- BROOKS, R. J. & FALLS, J. B. (1975b). Individual recognition by song in white-throated sparrows. III. Song features used in individual recognition. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 53, 1749–1761.
- BUCHWALD, J. S. & HUMPHREY, G. L. (1972). Response plasticity in cochlear nucleus of decerebrate cats during acoustic habituation procedures. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 35, 864–878.
- CALDER, A., RHODES, G., JOHNSON, M. & HAXBY, J. (eds.) (2011). Oxford Handbook of Face Perception. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- CALDWELL, R. L. (1992). Recognition, signalling and reduced aggression between former mates in a stomatopod. *Animal Behaviour* 44, 11–19.
- CHARRIER, I., PITCHER, B.J. & HARCOURT, R. G. (2009). Vocal recognition of mothers by Australian sea lion pups: individual signature and environmental constraints. *Animal Behaviour* 78, 1127–1134.
- CHENEY, D. L. (2011). Extent and limits of cooperation in animals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 10902–10909.
- CHENEY, D. L., MOSCOVICE, L. R., HEESEN, M., MUNDRY, R. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (2010). Contingent cooperation between wild female baboons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 9562–9566.
- CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (1980). Vocal recognition in free-ranging vervet monkeys. *Animal Behaviour* 28, 362–367.
- CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (1986). The recognition of social alliances by vervet monkeys. *Animal Behaviour* 34, 1722–1731.
- CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (1990). *How Monkeys See the World*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (1999). Recognition of other individuals' social relationships by female baboons. *Animal Behaviour* 58, 67–75.
- CHENEY, D. L. & SEYFARTH, R. M. (2007). Baboon Metaphysics: The Evolution of a Social Mind. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CHENEY, D. L., SEYFARTH, R. M. & SILK, J. B. (1995). The responses of female baboons (*Papio cynocephalus ursinus*) to anomalous social interactions: evidence for causal reasoning? *Journal of Comparative Psychology* **109**, 134–141.
- DASSER, V. (1988). A social concept in java monkeys. Animal Behaviour 36, 225-230.
- DE FANIS, E. & JONES, G. 1996. Allomaternal care and recognition between mothers
- and young in pipistrelle bats (*Pipistrellus pipistrellus*). Journal of Zoology **240**, 781–787. D'ETTORRE, P. & HEINZE, J. (2005). Individual recognition in ant queens. Current Biology **15**, 2170–2174.
- DRAGANOIU, T. I., NAGLE, L., MUSSEAU, R. & KREUTZER, M. (2006). In a songbird, the black redstart, parents use acoustic cues to discriminate between their different fledglings. *Animal Behaviour* 71, 1039–1046.
- DREIER, S., VAN ZWEDEN, J. S. & D'ETTORRE, P. (2007). Long-term memory of individual identity in ant queens. *Biology Letters* 3, 459–462.

- EARLEY, R. L. & DUGATKIN, L. A. (2002). Eavesdropping on visual cues in green swordtail (*Xiphophorus hellen*) fights: a case for networking. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* Series B 269, 943–952.
- EASON, P. & HANNON, S. J. (1994). New birds on the block: new neighbors increase defensive costs for territorial male willow ptarmigan. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 34, 419–426.
- EMLEN, S. T. (1971). The role of song in individual recognition in the indigo bunting. Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 28, 241–246.
- FALLS, J. B. (1982). Individual recognition by sounds in birds. In Acoustic Communication in Birds (Volume II, eds D. E. KROODSMA and E. H. MILLER), pp. 237–278. Academic Press, New York.
- FALLS, J. B. & BROOKS, R. J. (1975). Individual recognition by song in white-throated sparrows. II. Effects of location. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 53, 1412–1420.
- FARABAUGH, S. M. & DOOLING, R. J. (1996). Acoustic communication in parrots: laboratory and field studies of budgerigars, *Melopsittacus undulatus*. In *Ecology and Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Birds* (eds D. E. KROODSMA and E. H. MILLER), pp. 97–117. Cornell University Press, Ithaca.
- FUELE, G., ROTHSTEIN, S. I., OSENBERG, C. W. & MCGINLEY, M. A. (1984). Signals of status in wintering white-crowned sparrows, *Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii*. Animal Behaviour 32, 86–93.
- GAUTHIER, I., BEHRMANN, M. & TARR, M. J. (1999). Can face recognition really be dissociated from object recognition? *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 11, 349–370.
- GAUTHIER, I. & LOGOTHETIS, N. (2000). Is face recognition not so unique after all? Cognitive Neuropsychology 17, 125–142.
- GHEUSI, G. (1997). Individually distinctive odours represent individual conspecifics in rats. Animal Behaviour 53, 935–944.
- GODARD, R. (1991). Long-term memory of individual neighbours in a migratory songbird. *Nature* 350, 228–229.
- GODARD, R. (1993a). Red-eyed vireos have difficulty recognizing individual neighbors' songs. Auk 110, 857–862.
- GODARD, R. (1993b). Tit for tat among neighboring hooded warblers. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 33, 45–50.
- GODARD, R. & WILEY, R. H. (1995). Individual recognition of song repertoires in two wood warblers. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 37, 119–123.
- GRABOWSKA-ZHANG, A. M., SHELDON, B. C. & HINDE, C. A. (2012). Longterm familiarity promotes joining in neighbour nest defence. *Biology Letters* 8, 544–546.
- GRABOWSKA-ZHANG, A. M., WILKIN, T. A. & SHELDON, B. C. (2012). Effects of neighbor familiarity on reproductive success in the great tit (*Parus major*). *Behavioral Ecology* 23, 322–333.
- GROVES, P. M. & THOMPSON, R. F. (1970). Habituation: a dual-process theory. Psychological Review 77, 419–450.
- GUHL, A. (1968). Social inertia and social stability in chickens. Animal Behaviour 16, 219–232.
- HEARST, E. (1988). Fundamentals of learning and cognition. In *Stevens' Handbook of Experimental Psychology* (eds R. C. ATKINSON, R. J. HERRNSTEIN, G. LINDZEY and R. D. LUCE), pp. 3–109. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- HOLMES, W. G. (1995). The ontogeny of littermate preferences in juvenile goldenmantled ground squirrels: effects of rearing and relatedness. *Animal Behaviour* 50, 309-322.
- HOLMES, W. G. & SHERMAN, P. W. (1982). The ontogeny of kin recognition in two species of ground squirrels. *American Zoologist* 22, 491–517.
- HUSAK, J. F. (2004). Signal use by collared lizards, *Crotaphytus collaris*: the effects of familiarity and threat. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **55**, 602–607.
- HYMAN, J. (2002). Conditional strategies in territorial defense: do Carolina wrens play tit-for-tat? *Behavioral Ecology* 13, 664–669.
- ILLMANN, G., SCHRADER, L., SPINKA, M. & SUSTR, P. (2002). Acoustical motheroffspring recognition in pigs (Sus scrafa domestica). Behaviour 139, 487–505.
- INSLEY, S. J., PHILLIPS, A. V. & CHARRIER, I. (2003). A review of social recognition in pinnipeds. Aquatic Mammals 29, 181–201.
- JACOT, A., REERS, H. & FORSTMEIER, W. (2009). Individual recognition and potential recognition errors in parent-offspring communication. *Behavioral Ecology* and Sociobiology 64, 1515-1525.
- JANIK, V. M., SAYIGH, L. & WELLS, R. (2006). Signature whistle shape conveys identity information to bottlenose dolphins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 103, 8293–8297.
- JOHNSTON, R. E. (2008). Individual odors and social communication: individual recognition, kin recognition, and scent over-marking. Advances in the Study of Behavior 38, 439–505.
- JOHNSTON, R. E. & BULLOCK, T. A. (2001). Individual recognition by use of odours in golden hamsters: the nature of individual representations. *Animal Behaviour* 61, 545–557.
- JOHNSTONE, R. A. (1997). Recognition and the evolution of distinctive signatures: when does it pay to reveal identity? *Proceedings of the Royal Society Series B* 264, 1547-1553.
- JOUVENTIN, P. & AUBIN, T. (2002). Acoustic systems are adapted to breeding ecologies: individual recognition in nesting penguins. *Animal Behaviour* 64, 747–757.

- KAMIL, A. C., BALDA, R. P. & OLSON, D. J. (1994). Performance of four seed-caching corvid species in the radial-arm maze analog. *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 108, 385–393.
- KANDEL, E. R. (1977). The Cellular Basis of Behavior. W H Freeman, San Francisco.
- KOELLA, J. (2000). The spatial spread of altruism versus the evolutionary response of egoists. Proceedings of the Royal Society Series B 267, 1979–1985.
- KRAMS, I., KRAMA, T., IGAUNE, K. & MÄND, R. (2008). Experimental evidence of reciprocal altruism in the pied flycatcher. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 62, 599–605.
- LAI, W., CHEN, A. Y., YU, H. A. & JOHNSTON, R. E. (2004). Olfactory memory and individual recognition in golden hamsters. *Hormones and Behavior* 46, 115.
- LAI, W. & JOHNSTON, R. E. (2002). Individual recognition after fighting by golden hamsters: a new method. *Physiology & Behavior* 76, 225–239.
- LANGEN, T. A., TRIPET, F. & NONACS, P. (2000). The red and the black: habituation and the dear-enemy phenomenon in two desert *Pheidole* ants. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 48, 285–292.
- LEDER, H. & BRUCE, V. (2000). When inverted faces are recognized: the role of configural information in face recognition. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology* A 53, 513-536.
- LEISER, J. K. & ITZKOWITZ, M. (1999). The benefits of dear enemy recognition in three-contender convict cichlid (*Cichlasoma nigrofasciatum*) contests. *Behaviour* 136, 983–1003.
- LEMON, R. E., FIELDES, M. A. & STRUGER, J. (1981). Testing the monotony threshold hypothesis of bird song. Zeitschrift f
  ür Tierpsychologie 56, 359–379.
- LENGAGNE, T., AUBIN, T., JOUVENTIN, P. & LAUGA, J. (2000). Perceptual salience of individually distinctive features in the calls of adult king penguins. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 107, 508–516.
- LENGAGNE, T., JOUVENTIN, P. & AUBIN, T. (1999). Finding one's mate in a king penguin colony: efficiency of acoustic communication. *Behaviour* 136, 833–846.
- LEONARD, M. L., HORN, A. G., BROWN, C. R. & FERNANDEZ, N. J. (1997). Parentoffspring recognition in tree swallows, *Tachycineta bicolor. Animal Behaviour* 54, 1107–1116.
- MACKIN, W. A. (2005). Neighbor-stranger discrimination in Audubon's shearwater (*Puffinus therminieri*) explained by a "real enemy" effect. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 59, 326–332.
- MARLER, P. R. & HAMILTON, W. H. (1967). *Mechanisms of Animal Behavior*. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- MATEO, J. M. (2002). Kin-recognition abilities and nepotism as a function of sociality. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B 269, 721–727.
- MATEO, J. M. (2003). Kin recognition in ground squirrels and other rodents. *Journal of Mammalogy* 84, 1163–1181.
- MATEO, J. M. (2006). The nature and representation of individual recognition odours in beldine's ground souirrels. *Animal Behaviour* 71, 141–154.
- MENDRES, K. A. & DE WAAL, F. (2000). Capuchins do cooperate: the advantage of an intuitive task. *Animal Behaviour* **60**, 523–529.
- MILLER, D. E. & EMLEN, J. T. (1974). Individual chick recognition and family integrity in the ring-billed gull. *Behaviour* 52, 124–143.
- MILLER, R. R. & ESCOBAR, M. (2003). Learning: Laws and models of basic learning. In Stevens' Handbook of Experimental Psychology, Learning, Motivation, and Emotion. Third Edition (Volume III, eds H. PASHLER and R. GALLISTEL), pp. 47–102. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- MITTELDORF, J. & WILSON, D. (2000). Population viscosity and the evolution of altruism. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 204, 481-496.
- MøLLER, A. P. (1987). Social control of deception among status signalling house sparrows Passer domesticus. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 20, 307–311.
- MOSELEY, L. J. (1979). Individual auditory recognition in the least term (Sterna albifrons). Auk 96, 31–39.
- MÜLLER, C. A. & MANSER, M. B. (2008). Mutual recognition of pups and providers in the cooperatively breeding banded mongoose. *Animal Behaviour* 75, 1683–1692.
- MUNDINGER, P. (1970). Vocal imitation and individual recognition of finch calls. *Science* 168, 480–482.
- NEFF, B. D. & SHERMAN, P. W. (2002). Decision making and recognition mechanisms. Proceedings of the Royal Society Series B 269, 1435–1441.
- NOWAK, M. A., BONHOEFFER, S. & MAY, R. M. (1994). Spatial games and the maintenance of cooperation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United* States of America 91, 4877–4881.
- NOWAK, M. A. & SIGMUND, K. (2005). Evolution of indirect reciprocity. *Nature* 437, 1291–1298.
- NOWICKI, S. (1983). Flock-specific recognition of chickadee calls. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 12, 317–320.
- OLENDORF, R., GETTY, T. & SCRIBNER, K. (2004). Cooperative nest defence in red-winged blackbirds: reciprocal altruism, kinship or by-product mutualism? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences* 271, 177–182.
- OLIVEIRA, R. F., MCGREGOR, P. K. & LATRUFFE, C. (1998). Know thine enemy: fighting fish gather information from observing conspecific interactions. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society Series B 265, 1045–1049.
- PARR, L. A. (2003). The discrimination of faces and their emotional content by chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1000, 56–78.

- PARR, L., WINSLOW, J. T. & HOPKINS, W. D. (2000). Recognizing facial cues: individual discrimination by chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) and rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). Journal of Comparative Psychology 114, 47–60.
- PEAKE, T., TERRY, A. M. R., MCGREGOR, P. K. & DABELSTEEN, T. (2001). Male great tits eavesdrop on simulated male-to-male vocal interactions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B* 268, 1183–1187.
- PETERSON, M. A. & RHODES, G. (2006). Perception of Faces, Objects, and Scenes: Analytic and Holistic Processes. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- PETRINOVICH, L. (1984). A two-factor dual-process theory of habituation and sensitization. In *Habituation, Sensitization, and Behavior* (eds H. V. S. PEEKE and L. PETRINOVICH), pp. 17–55. Academic Press, New York.
- PETRULIS, A., WEIDNER, M. & JOHNSTON, R. E. (2004). Recognition of competitors by male golden hamsters. *Physiology & Behavior* 81, 629−638.
- PINSKER, H., KUPFERMAN, I., CASTELLUCCI, V. & KANDEL, E. (1970). Habituation and dishabituation of the gill-withdrawal reflex in *Aphysia. Science* 167, 1740–1742.
- PRAVOSUDOV, V. V. & CLAYTON, N. S. (2002). A test of the adaptive specialization hypothesis: population differences in caching, memory, and the hippocampus in black-capped chickadees (*Poecile atricapilla*). *Behavioral Neuroscience* 116, 515–522.
- PRICE, J. J. (1999). Recognition of family-specific calls in stripe-backed wrens. Animal Behaviour 57, 483-492.
- PRICE, J. J. (2003). Communication with shared call repertoires in the cooperatively breeding stripe-backed wren. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 74, 166–171.
- RAHMAN, N., DUNHAM, D. W. & GOVIND, C. K. (2001). Mate recognition and pairing in the big-clawed snapping shrimp, Alpheus heterochelis. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology 34, 213–226.
- REEVE, H. K. (1989). The evolution of conspecific acceptance thresholds. *The American Naturalist* 133, 407–435.
- REEVE, H. K. & KELLER, L. (1997). Reproductive bribing and policing as evolutionary mechanisms for the suppression of within-group selfishness. *American Naturalist* 150 (Suppl. 1), S42–58.
- RENDALL, D. (1996). Vocal recognition of individuals and kin in free-ranging rhesus monkeys. *Animal Behaviour* 51, 1007–1015.
- RICHARDS, D. G. (1979). Recognition of neighbors by associative learning in rufoussided towhees. Auk 96, 688–693.
- RIOLO, R. L., COHEN, M. D. & AXELROD, R. (2001). Evolution of cooperation without reciprocity. *Nature* 414, 441–443.
- ROHWER, S. (1985). Dyed birds achieve higher social status than controls in Harris' sparrows, Animal Behaviour 33, 1325-1331.
- ROSENFELD, S. A. & VAN HOESEN, G. W. (1979). Face recognition in the rhesus monkey. *Neuropsychologia* 17, 503–509.
- SAYIGH, L. S., TYACK, P. L., WELLS, R. S. & SCOTT, M. D. (1995). Sex difference in signature whistle production of free-ranging bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus*. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 36, 171–177.
- SCHOMMER, M. S. & TSCHANZ, B. (1975). Lautäusserungen junger trottellummen (Uria a. aalge) als individuelle merkmale. Vogelwarte 28, 17–44.
- SEYFARTH, R. M. & CHENEY, D. L. (2000). Social awareness in monkeys. American Zoologist 40, 902–909.
- SHAPIRO, P. N. & PENROD, S. (1986). Meta-analysis of facial identification studies. Psychological Bulletin 100, 139–156.
- SHARP, S. P., MCGOWAN, A., WOOD, M. J. & HATCHWELL, B. J. (2005). Learned kin recognition cues in a social bird. *Nature* **434**, 1127–1130.
- SHETTLEWORTH, S. J. (2000). Modularity and the evolution of cognition. In *The Evolution of Cognition* (eds C. HAYES and L. HUBER), pp. 43–60. MIT Press, Cambridge.
- SIMPSON, B. S. (1984). Tests of habituation to song repertoires by Carolina wrens. Auk 101, 244–254.
- SLOTOW, R. (1993). Social status signalling in white-crowned sparrows: an experimental test of the social control hypothesis. *Animal Behaviour* 46, 977–989.
- STODDARD, P. K. (1996). Vocal recognition of neighbors by territorial passerines. In *Ecology and Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Birds* (eds D. E. KROODSMA and E. H. MILLER), pp. 356–374. Cornell University Press, Ithaca.
- STODDARD, P. K., BEECHER, M. D. & HORNING, C. L. (1990). Strong neighborstranger discrimination in song sparrows. *Condor* 92, 1051–1056.
- STODDARD, P. K., BEECHER, M. D., HORNING, C. L. & CAMPBELL, S. E. (1991). Recognition of individual neighbors by song in the song sparrow, a species with song repertoires. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 29, 211–215.
- STODDARD, P. K., BEECHER, M. D., LOESCHE, P. & CAMPBELL, S. E. (1992). Memory does not constrain individual recognition in a bird with song repertoires. *Behaviour* 122, 274–287.

- TANAKA, J. W. & FARAH, M. J. (1993). Parts and wholes in face recognition. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A 46, 225-245.
- TEMELES, E. (1994). The role of neighbours in territorial systems: when are they 'dear enemics'? *Animal Behaviour* 47, 339–350.
- THOMPSON, R. F. & SPENCER, W. A. (1966). Habituation: a model phenomenon for the study of neuronal substrates of behavior. *Psychological Review* 73, 16–43.
- TIBBETTS, E. A. (2002). Visual signals of individual identity in the wasp Polistes fuscatus. Proceedings of the Royal Society Series B 269, 1423–1428.
- TIBBETTS, E. A. & CURTIS, T. R. (2007). Rearing conditions influence quality signals but not individual identity signals in *Polistes* wasps. *Behavioral Ecology* 18, 602–607.
- TIBBETTS, E. A. & DALE, J. (2007). Individual recognition: it is good to be different. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 22, 529–537.
- TRIVERS, R. L. (1971). The evolution of reciprocal altruism. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 46, 35–57.
- TSAO, D. Y. & LIVINGSTONE, M. S. (2008). Mechanisms of face perception. Annual Review of Neuroscience 31, 411–437.
- TSAO, D. Y., MOELLER, S. & FREIWALD, W. A. (2008). Comparing face patch systems in macaques and humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 19514–19519.
- WEEDEN, J. S. & FALLS, J. B. (1959). Differential responses of male ovenbirds to recorded songs of neighboring and more distant individuals. Auk 76, 343–351.
- WEST-EBERHARD, M. J. (2003). Developmental Plasticity and Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- WHITE, S. (1971). Selective responsiveness by the gannet (Sula bassana) to played-back calls. Animal Behaviour 19, 125–131.
- WILEY, R. H. (1990). Prior-residence and coat-tail effects in dominance relationships of male dark-eyed juncos, *Junco hypenalis. Animal Behaviour* 40, 587–596.
- WILEY, R. H. (1991). Associations of song properties with habitats for territorial oscine birds of eastern North America. *American Naturalist* 138, 973–993.
- WILEY, R. H. (2005). Individuality in songs of Acadian flycatchers and recognition of neighbours. *Animal Behaviour* 70, 237–247.
- WILEY, R. H., HATCHWELL, B. J. & DAVIES, N. B. (1991). Recognition of individual males' songs by female dunnocks: a mechanism increasing the number of copulatory partners and reproductive success. *Ethology* 88, 145–153.
- WILEY, R. H., STEADMAN, L., CHADWICK, L. & WOLLERMAN, L. (1999). Social inertia in white-throated sparrows results from recognition of opponents. *Animal Behaviour* 57, 453–463.
- WILEY, R. H. & WILEY, M. S. (1977). Recognition of neighbors' duets by stripe-backed wrens Campylorhynchus nuchalis. Behaviour 62, 10–34.
- WILKINSON, G. S. (1984). Reciprocal food sharing in the vampire bat. Nature 308, 181-184.
- WILKINSON, G. S. (1985a). The social organization of the common vampire bat, I, pattern and cause of association. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 17, 111–121.
- WILKINSON, G. S. (1985b). The social organization of the common vampire bat, II, mating system, genetic structure, and relatedness. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 17, 123–134.
- WILKINSON, G. S. (1990). Food sharing in vampire bats. Scientific American 262, 64-71.
- WILMER, J. B., GERMINE, L., CHABRIS, C. F., CHATTERJEE, G., WILLIAMS, M., LOKEN, E., NAKAYAMA, K. & DUCHAINE, B. (2010). Human face recognition ability is specific and highly heritable. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 107, 5238–5241.
- WILSON, D. S. (1979). Structured demes and trait-group variation. The American Naturalist 113, 606–610.
- WITTIG, R. M., CROCKFORD, C., WIKBERG, E., SEYFARTH, R. M. & CHENEY, D. L. (2007a). Kin-mediated reconciliation substitutes for direct reconciliation in female baboons. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences* 274, 1109–1115.
- WITTIG, R. M., CROCKFORD, C., SEYFARTH, R. M. & CHENEY, D. L. (2007b). Vocal alliances in chacma baboons (*Papio hamadryas ursinus*). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 61, 899–909.
- WOOLLER, R. D. (1978). Individual vocal recognition in the kittiwake gull, Rissa tridactyla (L.). Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 48, 68–86.
- YASUKAWA, K. (1981). Song repertoires in the red-winged blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*): a test of the beau geste hypothesis. *Animal Behaviour* **29**, 114–125.
- ZHAO, W., CHELLAPPA, R., PHILLIPS, P. J. & ROSENFELD, A. (2003). Face recognition: a literature survey. ACM Computing Surveys 35, 399–458.

(Received 20 October 2011; revised 8 August 2012; accepted 13 August 2012)